Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-11-2009

Beco Const. Co., Inc. v. J-U-B Engineers Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35873

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is back on appeal after this Court's decision in *BECO Const. Co., Inc. v. J-U-B Engineers, Inc.* 145 Idaho 719 (2008) where this Court remanded this matter for a determination and award of attorney's fees J-U-B incurred in defending only BECO's contract claim that BECO voluntarily withdrew on August 15, 2005. As of August 15, 2005 J-U-B incurred a total of \$33,661.92 in attorney's fees that included defending not only the contract claim, but also two tort claims for which this Court held J-U-B cannot recover any attorney's fees. On remand, the district court awarded \$35,600 in attorney's fees, which is \$1,938.98 more in attorney's fees than J-U-B had even incurred as of August 15, 2005 in defending all claims. The district court also awarded J-U-B \$5,540 in attorney's fees for briefing the attorney's fees issue on remand and opposing BECO's Petition For Writ of Mandate. Finally, this appeal also involves the district court's order that \$41,140 of BECO's cash deposit from the first appeal to stay execution of the money judgment this Court vacated be paid to J-U-B to satisfy the amended judgment entered on the attorney's fees order after remand.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For purposes of this appeal, the factual background begins with this Court's decision in *BECO Const. Co., Inc. v. J-U-B Engineers, Inc.* 145 Idaho 719 (2008). This decision vacated the portion of the judgment awarding J-U-B attorney's fees. This decision holds that BECO is liable only for attorney's fees to J-U-B for its work defending against a breach of contract claim, not for defending against BECO's claims for negligence and intentional interference with contract. Because BECO withdrew its

breach of contract claim on August 15, 2005, this Court remanded the matter to the district court to determine an award of attorney's fees attributable to J-U-B's defending the breach of contract claim before August 15, 2005.

On remand, BECO moved to have its cash deposit in the amount of \$102,541.86 released to BECO because this Court had vacated that part of the judgment awarding attorney's fees. BECO reasoned that this Court had vacated the money portion of the judgment thus leaving no money judgment for J-U-B to satisfy and thus no security needed to stay execution pending appeal. BECO further reasoned that once the district court entered a new order for attorney's fees BECO could pay the amount ordered or appeal and post a new cash deposit.

The district court denied BECO's motion stating that the district court would award J-U-B attorney's fees and that the award of attorney's fees would be paid out of the cash deposit with the balance being returned to BECO.³ Ultimately, the district court concluded that "most of the work performed by counsel for J-U-B prior to August 15, 2005, involved defending the breach of contract claim pursued by BECO Construction" and awarded \$35,600 in attorney's fees for defending BECO's contract claim⁴ even though a mere mathematical calculation of all attorney's fees J-U-B presented to the district court for time incurred on or before August 15, 2005 yields an amount of \$33,661.92.⁵

¹ This brief shall reference the Clerk's Record after remand as "(Clerk's Record After Remand)" because the Clerk's Record After Remand has no volume designation. See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 16.

² See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 16.

³ R Vol. IV, p. 66.

⁴ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 65-66.

⁵ R Vol. IV, pp. 687-695.

As for the work J-U-B incurred before August 15, 2005, BECO filed the Complaint on March 30, 2005, and J-U-B filed its Answer and Demand for Jury Trial on May 19, 2005. The next substantive filing occurred on July 29, 2005 when J-U-B filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. 8 a 16-page Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. and an affidavit in support of the motion for summary judgment. 10 J-U-B dedicated four pages of its memorandum (pages 6, 7, 8 and 9) addressing the breach of contract issue. 11 The remaining portion of the brief (the other 12 pages or "most of the work performed by counsel for J-U-B") addressed the two tort claims. 12 The only other substantive filing before August 15, 2005 occurred on August 12, 2005 when J-U-B filed a First Supplemental and Amended Answer and Demand for Jury Trial addressing all BECO's claims. 13

On remand, the district court further concluded that J-U-B was entitled to another \$5,540 for having to file a brief arguing the amount of attorney's fees J-U-B should recover¹⁴ and that J-U-B should be compensated by BECO whose interim Petition for Writ of Mandate against the district court caused J-U-B to incur additional attorney's fees. 15 The district court ordered that J-U-B be paid \$41,140 from BECO's cash deposit BECO paid in connection with the first appeal to stay execution of the judgment that this Court vacated. 16

⁶ R Vol. I, p. 12.

⁷ R Vol. I, p. 25.

⁸ R Vol. I, p. 33.

⁹ R Vol. I, pp. 36-52.

¹⁰ R Vol. I, p. 54.

¹¹ R Vol. I, p. 41-4433.

¹² R Vol. I, pp. 36-52.

¹³ R Vol. II, p. 444.

¹⁴ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 65-66.

¹⁵ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 65-66.

¹⁶ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 66.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Appellant BECO filed a verified complaint on March 29, 2005.¹⁷ BECO's complaint alleged (1) breach of contract; (2) negligence; and (3) intentional interference with contract. ¹⁸ On May 19, 2005, J-U-B filed an Answer denying BECO's allegations. ¹⁹ J-U-B then filed its first Motion for Summary Judgment on July 29, 2005. ²⁰ On August 15, 2005, BECO served its brief opposing J-U-B's motion for summary judgment in which BECO withdrew its breach of contract claim. ²¹ Ultimately, the district court granted summary judgment for J-U-B on the remaining negligence and intentional interference with contract claims and awarded J-U-B \$75,351,42 in attorney's fees under I.C. §12-120(3). ²² On May 2, 2008, this Court entered its decision in *BECO Const. Co., Inc. v. J-U-B Engineers, Inc.* 145 Idaho 719 (2008) in which this Court affirmed entry of summary judgment but vacated the attorney's fee award and remanded the case for determination and award of the amount of attorney's fees J-U-B incurred defending BECO's contract claim.

On May 29, 2008, BECO filed a Motion for Release of Cash Deposit requesting that the district court enter an order returning to BECO its \$102,541.86 cash deposit BECO had paid into the court pending resolution of the first appeal.²³

On June 4, 2008, J-U-B filed the Affidavit of Daniel A. Nevala and a memorandum opposing the motion to release BECO's cash deposit.²⁴ J-U-B requested that the district court not release any of the cash deposit until after making a

¹⁸ R Vol. I, pp. 19-22.

¹⁷ R Vol. I, pp. 1-23.

¹⁹ R Vol. I, pp. 25-29.

²⁰ R Vol. I, pp. 33-35.

²¹ R Vol. IV, p. 832.

²² R Vol. IV, p. 804.

²³ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 16.

²⁴ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 19 and 33.

determination of a new fee award after which the court could order that the new fee award be paid from the cash deposit and the remaining balance released to BECO.²⁵

On June 9, 2008, the matter came before the court pursuant to BECO's Motion to Release Cash Deposit.²⁶

On June 12, 2008, the district court entered a Memorandum Decision and Order denying BECO's motion for release of cash deposit.²⁷ The court further ordered that (1) it would award a new amount of attorney's fees to J-U-B for defending BECO's contract claim; (2) it would order that the new award of attorney's fees be paid out of BECO's cash deposit; and (3) any remaining balance of BECO's cash deposit would be returned to BECO.²⁸ The district court further entered a Minute Entry and Order awarding additional attorney's fees to J-U-B for its time preparing and submitting a brief on the attornev's fees issue.²⁹

On June 19, 2008, BECO filed a Verified Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Brief in Support of Verified Petition for Writ of Mandamus, Ex Parte Application for Temporary Stay and Application for Stay.

On June 23, 2008, BECO filed its Brief in Opposition to J-U-B's Award of Attorney's Fees, 30 and J-U-B filed a Memorandum in Support of Determination and Award of Attorney's Fees to Defendant.³¹ J-U-B also filed a Memorandum of Fees seeking \$5,540 for preparing its five-page brief.³²

See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 33-34.
 See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 44 and Tr Vol. I, p. 8.

²⁷ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 37-42.

See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 37-42.
 See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 44-45.

³⁰ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 46.

³¹ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 53.

³² See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 61.

On June 25, 2008, this Court entered an Order Granting Ex Parte Application for Temporary Stay and Application for Stay.

On September 18, 2008, J-U-B filed a Memorandum and Amended Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Petition.

On October 10, 2008, this Court entered an Order Denying Verified Petition and Writ of Mandamus.

On November 3, 2008, the district court entered a Memorandum Decision and Order awarding J-U-B attorney's fees in the amount of \$35,600 for its work in defending BECO's contract claim before August 15, 2008.³³ The district court also awarded J-U-B \$5,540 in attorney's fees pursuant to the memorandum of fees J-U-B filed on June 23, 2008.³⁴ The district court stated that J-U-B should be compensated for having incurred additional legal research due to BECO's Petition for a Writ of Mandate against the court "and counsel [for J-U-B] should be compensated by BECO for this work necessitated by the pleadings filed by BECO."35 Finally, the district court ordered that the Bannock County Auditor pay \$41,140 to counsel for J-U-B, David A. Nevala, and remit the balance to counsel for BECO.³⁶

On November 11, 2008, BECO filed a Notice of Appeal.³⁷

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the district court abuse its discretion in awarding J-U-B \$35,600 in attorney's fees for defending against BECO's contract claim that BECO withdrew on August 15, 2005 where J-U-B's attorney's fees through August 15, 2005 total \$33,661.42

See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 65-67.
 See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 66.

³⁵ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 66.

³⁶ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 66.

³⁷ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 68.

which amount includes work defending BECO's negligence and intentional interference with contract claims for which this Court has held J-U-B could recover no attorney's fees?

- 2. Did the district court abuse its discretion in awarding J-U-B another \$5,540 in attorney's fees for (1) its work in arguing over the amount of attorney's fees the district court should award; and (2) its work opposing BECO's Petition for a Writ of Mandate against the district court?
- 3. Should this Court hold as a matter of law that J-U-B can recover no attorney's fees because J-U-B failed to present the district court with a record that isolates or apportions its work among the claims for breach of contract, negligence, and intentional interference with contract?
- 4. Did the district court commit reversible error when it ordered that BECO's cash deposit paid in connection with the prior appeal be used to satisfy the new attorney's fees award of \$41,140 where this Court vacated the district court's prior money judgment and BECO has now appealed the Memorandum Decision and Order awarding a new amount of attorney's fees?
 - 5. Is BECO entitled to an award of costs on appeal?

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AWARDING J-U-B \$35,600 IN ATTORNEY'S FEES.

"In reviewing a district court's award of attorney fees," this Court applies "an abuse of discretion standard where a dispute concerns the amount of attorney fees that have been properly awarded." *Bouten Const. Co. v. H.F. Magnuson Co.*, 133 Idaho

756, 767 (1999) citing *Brinkman v. Aid Ins. Co.*, 115 Idaho 346, 351 (1988). In determining whether the trial court has abused its discretion, this Court applies the three-factor test fashioned in *Sun Valley Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Idaho Power Co.*, 119 Idaho 87, 94, 803 P.2d 993, 1000 (1991). These three factors are "(1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *Id.*

Here, the district court did not act within the outer boundaries of its discretion in awarding \$35,600 in attorney's fees for defending BECO's contract claim. As of August 15, 2005, J-U-B incurred \$33,661.92 in attorney's fees. This Court has held that J-U-B can recover attorney's fees only for defending BECO's contract claim that BECO withdrew on August 15, 2005. This means that J-U-B cannot recover attorney's fees incurred after August 15, 2005. Necessarily, then, the district court cannot award more than \$33,661.92 in attorney's fees because \$33,661.92 is the total amount of attorney's fees incurred through the applicable period for which J-U-B can recover some attorney's fees for defending against the contract claim.

Moreover, it is beyond dispute that BECO alleged three claims against J-U-B: One for breach of contract, one for negligence, and one for intentional interference with contract. It is further beyond dispute that J-U-B prepared an answer and a motion for summary judgment that addressed all three claims, not just the contract claim. Therefore, the actual amount of attorney's fees attributable to defending only against the contract claim must be less than \$33,661.92, not \$1,938.98 greater than \$33,661.92.

Neither did the district court "reach its decision by an exercise of reason." The district court concluded that "most of the work performed by counsel for J-U-B prior to August 15, 2005, involved defending the breach of contract claim pursued by BECO Construction."38 However, the pleadings J-U-B filed before August 15, 2005 show that most of the work performed by counsel for J-U-B prior to August 15, 2005 involved defending the negligence and intentional interference with contract claims. Specifically, J-U-B filed an Answer and Demand for Jury Trial on May 19, 2005³⁹ and a First Supplemental and Amended Answer and Demand for Jury Trial on August 12, 2005. 40 Both of these pleadings dedicate two thirds effort addressing the negligence and intentional interference with contract claims and one third effort addressing the contract claim. On July 29, 2005, J-U-B filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, 41 a 16-page Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, 42 and an affidavit in support of the motion for summary judgment. 43 J-U-B dedicated four pages of the memorandum (pages 6, 7, 8 and 9) addressing the breach of contract issue. 44 The remaining portion of the memorandum (the other 12 pages or "most of the work performed by counsel for J-U-B") addressed the two tort claims. 45 Importantly, J-U-B's attorney billings do not isolate or segregate time spent on the various claims making it impossible to conclude that most of J-U-B's work involved defending against BECO's contract claim. 46

...

³⁸ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 65-66.

³⁹ R Vol. I, p. 25.

⁴⁰ R Vol. II, p. 444.

⁴¹ R Vol. I, p. 33.

⁴² R Vol. I, pp. 36-52.

⁴³ R Vol. I, p. 54.

⁴⁴ R Vol. I, p. 41-4433.

⁴⁵ R Vol. I, pp. 36-52.

⁴⁶ R Vol. IV, pp. 687-695.

In short, the district court did not act "within the outer boundaries of its discretion" and did not reach "its decision by an exercise of reason." Therefore, the district court abused its discretion in awarding \$35,600 in attorney's fees.

II.

THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AWARDING J-U-B \$5,540 IN ADDITIONAL ATTORNEY'S FEES.

Idaho law is well-established that Idaho Code Section 12-120 applies only to issues of entitlement to attorney's fees. Section 12-120 does not apply when the dispute involves the amount of attorney's fees awarded. Sanders v. Lankford, 134 Idaho 322 (Ct. App. 2000) citing Building Concepts, Ltd. v. Pickering, 114 Idaho 640 (Ct. App. 1988); Spidell v. Jenkens, 111 Idaho 857 (Ct. App. 1986); and Cheney v Smith, 108 Idaho 209 (Ct. App. 1985). Also, "[t]he court 'may not use the award or denial of attorney fees to vindicate his sense of justice beyond the judgment rendered on the underlying dispute between the parties." Eighteen Mile Ranch, LLC v. Nord Excavating & Paving, Inc. 141 Idaho 716, 720 (2005) quoting Evans v. Sawtooth Partners, 111 Idaho 381, 387 (Ct. App. 1986).

Here, the district court awarded J-U-B \$5,540 "in attorney's fees pursuant to the memorandum of fees filed June 23, 2008." The June 23, 2008 memorandum of fees with accompanying documents shows that J-U-B incurred the \$5,540 in attorney's fees in addressing the *amount* of fees it should recover and not addressing the *entitlement* issue that this Court already resolved on appeal. BECO submits that the district court did not act "within the outer boundaries of its discretion" when it awarded attorney's fees (presumably under Section 12-120) for work involved in addressing the amount of

⁴⁷ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 66.

⁴⁸ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 60-64.

attorney's fees. Otherwise, lawsuits theoretically might never end because parties would be encouraged to litigate the reasonableness of an award of attorney's fees because they could recover more attorney's fees whose amount they could continue to litigate expecting to recover more attorney's fees. This process of litigating attorney's fees could conceivably continue forever.

Moreover, the district court's decision indicates that the district court's "own sense of justice" influenced the \$5,540 award of attorney's fees. The district court stated, "[d]ue to the objections raised by counsel for BECO and their *Petition for a Writ of Mandate against this court* it was indeed necessary for counsel for J-U-B to incur additional legal research and time . . . and [J-U-B's] counsel should be compensated by BECO for this work necessitated by the pleadings filed by BECO."⁴⁹ BECO's Petition for Writ of Mandate was "beyond the underlying dispute between the parties" before the district court. The Petition for Writ of Mandate involved a dispute between the parties and sought relief from this Court, not the district court. Yet, the district court was influenced to award attorney's fees to J-U-B apparently to vindicate its own sense of justice on the writ of mandate issue before this Court.

In short, this Court already determined on appeal that J-U-B is entitled to attorney's fees it incurred defending on the contract action and remanded to the district court to determine the amount of the award. Under well-established Idaho law, the district court could not award J-U-B any attorney's fees incurred for responding to BECO's challenge regarding the amount of attorney's fees the district court should award. Moreover, the district court appears to have awarded the \$5,540 in part out of a vindication of its own sense of justice rather than on the issues before the district court

⁴⁹ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 66; emphasis added.

and between the parties. Accordingly, BECO submits that the district court abused its discretion in awarding J-U-B \$5,540 in attorney's fees.

III.

J-U-B SHOULD NOT RECOVER ANY ATTORNEY'S FEES BECAUSE J-U-B HAS NOT SUBMITTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT ANY AMOUNT OF ATTORNEY'S FEES.

A court cannot award attorney's fees where the memorandum of costs is insufficient to isolate the fees recoverable on and attributable to a breach of contract claim from fees not recoverable on but attributable to a tort claim. *Brooks v. Gigray Ranches, Inc.*, 128 Idaho 72 (1996). In *Brooks*, the defendant prevailed on the defense of a contract claim and on its counterclaim for conversion. The district court denied the defendant's request for attorney's fees because the district court could not determine from the record before it those fees properly recoverable in defending the contract claim from those fees it incurred prosecuting the conversion action for which the defendant could not recover fees. The district court clearly explained that the "defense of the breach of contract action was inseparably intertwined with and at least partially attributable to the intentional tort claim for conversion" for which the defendant could not recover attorney's fees:

The Court looked at the attorney fees to see if I could distinguish which ones were used on the intentional tort and which ones were used on the defending of the contract. And I was unable by this affidavit to make those findings, so the Court would not grant attorney fees in this particular case on these Memorandum of Costs. And with regard to conversion it does not fall within the contract and it does not fall within the statutory authority of Idaho Code Section 12-120(3), so there would be no attorney fees at all entitled under the conversion. The Court is unable to determine which attorney fees were used for the conversion and which were used for the contract action.

Id. at 77-78.

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