UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-13-2009

Beco Const. Co., Inc. v. J-U-B Engineers Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35873

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

II. DISCUSSION

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Attorney fees are awarded in the sound discretion of the trial court, and the party refuting the award must show an abuse of discretion by the trial court. *Graham v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 138 Idaho 611, 613 (Idaho 2003). When this Court reviews an alleged abuse of discretion by a trial court, the sequence of inquiry is: (1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by the exercise of reason. The test for abuse of discretion concerns whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion, acted within the boundaries of its discretion consistent with the legal

²⁶ T. Vol. I, pp. 16-17.

²⁷ T. Vol. I, pp. 22-23.

²⁸ T. Vol. I, pp. 18-21.

²⁹ T. Vol. I, pp. 24-25.

standards applicable to the specific choices available to it, and whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Thomson v. Olsen*, 205 P.3d 1235, 1239 (2009), (citing *Weeks v. E. Idaho Health Servs.*, 143 Idaho 834, 837 (2007)).

2. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY PERCEIVED THE ISSUE OF DETERMINING AND AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES TO J-U-B AS ONE OF DISCRETION AND PROPERLY ACTED WITHING THE BOUNDS ITS DISCRETION BY CONSIDERING THE EVIDENCE BEFORE IT AND EXERCISING REASON IN REACHING ITS DECISION.

A. The district court satisfied all three parts of the abuse of discretion test.

As stated above, the abuse of discretion test has three parts. The first requires that the court correctly perceive the issue as one of discretion. During the June 9, 2008 hearing on *Plaintiff's Motion for Release of Cash Deposit*, the district court pointed out to counsel by quoting partly from this Court's prior decision that:

"...Idaho Code 12-120(3) does not provide the basis for the key award to J-U-B after the point where the contractual claim was dismissed. Up to that point, J-U-B is entitled to its fees for defending against the contract claim. So, the issue isn't whether or not they're entitled to fees; that has already been resolved by the Idaho Supreme Court. The only issue is the amount...."³⁰

This statement shows that the district court correctly perceived the decision to determine and award attorney fees to J-U-B for defending against the breach of contract claim as not only within its discretion, but as the only reason this Court remanded the case to the district court. In taking the issue of releasing the cash under advisement and then advising the parties to submit additional briefing on the attorney fee issue, the court's actions are consistent with this perceived discretion.

³⁰ See Tr. Vol. I, p.13.

The second and third parts of the abuse of discretion test require that the court act within the boundaries of its discretion consistent with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it, and reach its decision by an exercise of reason. In meeting these two parts of the test, the court properly considered the factors of I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) and exercised reason in reaching its decision to award fees to J-U-B

In Idaho, the method of calculating reasonable attorney fees is set forth in Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54(e)(3). *Monsanto Co. v. PacifiCorp*, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27565 (D. Idaho Apr. 24, 2006). I.R.C.P. Rule 54(e)(3) requires the court to consider the following factors in determining the amount of attorney fees:

In the event the court grants attorney fees to a party or parties in a civil action it shall consider the following factors in determining the amount of such fees:

- (A) The time and labor required.
- (B) The novelty and difficulty of the questions.
- (C) The skill requisite to perform the legal service properly and the experience and ability of the attorney in the particular field of law.
- (D) The prevailing charges for like work.
- (E) Whether the fee is fixed or contingent.
- (F) The time limitations imposed by the client or the circumstances of the case.
- (G) The amount involved and the results obtained.
- (H) The undesirability of the case.
- (I) The nature and length of the professional relationship with the client.

- (J) Awards in similar cases.
- The reasonable cost of automated legal research (Computer Assisted Legal (K) Research), if the court finds it was reasonably necessary in preparing a party's case.
- (L)Any other factor which the court deems appropriate in the particular case

The language of the court's Memorandum Decision and Order dated October 29, 2008 provides insight into how the court reached its decision. It shows that the court considered most, if not all, of the twelve factors laid out under this rule before reaching its decision that the fees J-U-B incurred prior to BECO withdrawing its contract claim were incurred defending against that claim.31

In reaching its decision, the court reconsidered the testimony of J-U-B's expert witness. At the August 7, 2006 fee hearing, the court considered the testimony of Pocatello attorney John Bailey.³² Mr. Bailey was a witness called by J-U-B. He stated, that among other things, the work done and the rate charged by J-U-B's counsel was reasonable and that the summary judgment decisions in this case were well reasoned.³³ He also stated that in his opinion BECO's complaint was not well researched.³⁴ The court questioned both Mr. Bailey and counsel for J-U-B about the nature of defending a lawsuit of this type. Mr. Bailey further opined on the nature of defending against a construction case and also about defending specifically against BECO, concluding that litigation against BECO is difficult and unreasonably time consuming.³⁵

 ³¹ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 65-66.
 ³² See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 65.

³³ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 26-27 at pp. 24-27.
³⁴ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 27 at pp. 25-26.

³⁵ See Clerk's Record After Remand, pp. 26-27 at pp. 24-27.

In reaching its decision, the court considered the volumes of documents J-U-B's counsel had to review in defending the case. The underlying case beneath this appeal involved a document intensive construction case which resulted in time consuming document review at the initial stages. When J-U-B was first served the complaint it had no idea why it was being sued. J-U-B knew it hadn't contracted with BECO. As explained at length in the briefing done for the first appeal, there were two separate contracts; a design contract between J-U-B and the Pocatello Development Authority and a construction contract between BECO and the City of Pocatello. J-U-B could not comprehend why BECO would sue J-U-B in contract. These concerns all had to be sorted out by J-U-B's counsel and explained to the court through summary judgment briefs.

The court also considered the billing records showing the work done by J-U-B's counsel. J-U-B presented the court with evidence to support an award of fees. BECO presented no evidence at the fee hearing to refute Mr. Bailey's testimony or to establish that J-U-B's fees were in any way unreasonable. J-U-B apportioned its fees by arguing to the court that the amount of fees incurred by J-U-B prior to BECO withdrawing its breach of contract claim were all incurred to defend the breach of contract claim. The work J-U-B's counsel did at the beginning of this case was necessary to defend the lawsuit and would have been done regardless if there was one claim or three. Regardless of whether J-U-B separated out each individual time entry and labeled it as being spent defending against the contract claim, the court was capable of reviewing the billing records and considering all of the factors outlined by I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) and reaching a decision which is exactly what it did.

In the alternative, if this Court disagrees with the district court's decision that the work done by J-U-B was done defending against the contract claim, the Court could hold that the same result could have been reached if the district court had held that BECO's unjustifiable claims were made and pursued frivolously. This Court chose to apply the "right result/wrong reason" test in its previous opinion in this case by holding that because J-U-B was not a stranger to the construction contract between BECO and the City of Pocatello, J-U-B could not have interfered with the contract. Beco Constr. Co. v. J-U-B Eng'rs, Inc., 145 Idaho 719, 724 (2008). It is clear that J-U-B's billing records did not change from when they were first submitted to the court. It is also clear that Mr. Bailey's testimony that BECO's complaint was not well researched and that the case was brought and pursued frivolously did not change. The district court considered both of these pieces of evidence, along with the rest of the record, before reaching its decision.

In addition to the testimony of Mr. Bailey and the billing records, the court also reviewed the Memorandum of Costs filed by counsel for J-U-B, the Memorandum in Support, and BECO's objections.³⁶ In support of the Memorandum of Costs, J-U-B filed and Affidavit of Counsel Regarding Memorandum of Costs and Fees which further supported the claim that the attorney's fees incurred by J-U-B were incurred at a reasonable rate and in accordance with the fees charged by attorneys with similar skill and experience, and the other factors laid out in I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3).³⁷ Adding all of this together, BECO's argument that J-U-B provided the court with no evidence or that the court had no evidence to consider before making its decision to

³⁶ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 66.
³⁷ R. Vol. IV. p. 781.

award fees to J-U-B is baseless. The court properly considered the evidence and made a reasoned decision. Thus, this Court should uphold the district court's resulting decision.

В. The district court did not award additional fees to "vindicate its own sense of justice" as BECO argues.

At the hearing on BECO's motion to release the cash deposit, BECO argued that J-U-B was not entitled to any fees because the record contained inadequate evidence to support an award. J-U-B argued that the court had ample evidence to determine and make an award of fees. BECO wanted to have a separate hearing on the fee issue and insisted on having the opportunity to file additional briefing on the issue over the objection by J-U-B.³⁸ The court allowed BECO the opportunity to brief the issue and ordered J-U-B to submit additional briefing on the issue along with a cost bill that would be paid by BECO.³⁹ Thus, the court determined that J-U-B was the prevailing party and acted within its discretion in awarding the additional fees to J-U-B.

All the court did by allowing additional briefing was give BECO an opportunity to establish its failing claim. BECO paid lip service to both the court's authority and the fact that it was really only arguing about the amount of fees, but in reality, it was raising the issue of J-U-B's entitlement to the fee and advising the court that any decision other than one that satisfied BECO would likely be appealed.

J-U-B, on the other hand, argued that sufficient evidence existed in the record to support an award of reasonable fees. A party claiming attorney fees does not even have to submit evidence as to what is a reasonable fee.

³⁸ T. Vol. I, p. 11. ³⁹ T. Vol. I, p. 24

What is a reasonable attorneys' fee is a question for the determination of the court, taking into consideration of the nature of the litigation, the amount involved in the controversy, the length of time utilized in preparation for and the trial of the case and other related factors viewed in the light of the knowledge and experience of the court as a lawyer and judge; it is not necessary in the connection that he hear any evidence on the matter although it is proper that the court may have before it the opinion of experts. *Smith v. Great Basin Grain Co.*, 98 Idaho 266, 281 (1977).

The court clearly understood its role in all of this. It understood that it was directed to determine and award fees to J-U-B for defending against the contract claim by this Court. And because J-U-B claimed that it could do that by looking back at the evidence contained in the record and making a decision that meant that the court should go back and review the evidence in the record and attempt to make such a determination and award. However, because BECO was arguing that it needed the opportunity to file additional briefing, the court allowed BECO that opportunity at the cost of the work incurred by J-U-B. Allowing the parties to file additional briefing, then reviewing the existing record to determine and award fees to J-U-B was not done with any vindictive intent of punishing BECO; rather, it was squarely within the courts discretion and should be upheld.

C. The district court properly considered the factors of I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3).

The court's decision to award fees to J-U-B also stated that due to the objections raised by counsel for BECO and BECO's Petition for a Writ of Mandate against the court it was necessary for J-U-B to incur additional attorney fees in seeking an award on the contract claim for which J-U-B should be compensated in the amount of \$5,540.⁴⁰ Again, the court made this

⁴⁰ See Clerk's Record After Remand, p. 66.

decision by employing the factors laid out in I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) and exercising its discretion. The district court's decision clearly demonstrates that it considered at least some of the twelve factors laid out under Rule 54(e)(3). It is well settled by this Court that I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) does not require the district court to make detailed findings on each listed factor. The rule merely provides that the district court shall consider the factors, but does not require a finding on each one, as a particular listed factor may or may not be relevant to the outcome. Elliott v. Darwin Neibaur Farms, 138 Idaho 774, 786 (2003) U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Kuenzli, 134 Idaho 222, 228-29, 999 P.2d 877, 883-84 (2000); Perkins v. U.S. Transformer West, 132 Idaho 427, 431-32, 974 P.2d 73, 77-78 (1999); Post Falls Trailer Park v. Fredekind, 131 Idaho 634, 638, 962 P.2d 1018, 1022 (1998); Empire Fire and Marine Ins. Co. v. North Pacific Ins. Co., 127 Idaho 716, 720, 905 P.2d 1025, 1029 (1995); Brinkman v. Aid Ins. Co., 115 Idaho 346, 351, 766 P.2d 1227, 1232 (1988); Irwin Rogers Ins. Agency, Inc. v. Murphy, 122 Idaho 270, 277, 833 P.2d 128, 135 (Ct.App. 1992). This Court has further held that a trial court need not make specific findings demonstrating how it employed any of the factors listed in Rule 54(e)(3) but it should provide a record establishing that it considered the factors under the rule. *Pinnacle Eng'rs v. Heron Brook*, LLC., 139 Idaho 756, 760 (2004), See also Perkins v. U.S. Transformer West, 132 Idaho 427 (1999), and Elliot v. Darwin Neibaur Farms, 138 Idaho 774, 2003 Ida. Lexis 60 (2003). In the Pinnacle case, the Court also cited its decision in Elliott v. Darwin Neibaur Farms, 138 Idaho 774, 786 (2003) where it held that it is sufficient if the trial court states that it has taken into consideration the factors listed in I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3). In *Pinnacle*, the district court's written order simply stated, "The court awards attorney's fees in the amount of \$61,846.38." Pinnacle Eng'rs

v. Heron Brook, LLC., 139 Idaho 756, 760 (2004). Here, the district court specifically mentioned I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3) factors in its decision to award fees to J-U-B.

This Court has previously upheld awards of attorney fees where the record indicates that the trial court considered the relevant factors even though it did not make any reference to the rule when making the award. In Brinkman v. Aid Insurance Co., 115 Idaho 346, 766 P.2d 1227 (1988), the trial court awarded attorney fees in an amount roughly equal to the contingent fee the prevailing party had contracted to pay his attorneys. When making the award in Brinkman, the trial court mentioned only that the attorney fee was contingent and did not make any reference to Rule 54(e)(3) or to the other factors listed in that rule. This Court upheld the award, however, "because the record establishes that several of the eleven factors were argued and briefed to the court and there is no basis to conclude the court failed to consider each of the factors." Id. This Court has further added that the profile of the record provided enough information to presume that the trial judge considered the other pertinent factors enumerated in the [rule]." Pinnacle Eng'rs v. Heron Brook, LLC., 139 Idaho 756, 760 (2004). These holdings are consistent with how the U.S. District Court for the District of Idaho has applied the factors of I.R.C.P. 54(e)(3)when applying Idaho state law. That court held that "although these factors must be considered, it is not required that specific findings be made as to how the factors were employed or applied in making an award of fees. SemMaterials, L.P. v. Alliance Asphalt, Inc., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15470 (D. Idaho Mar. 1, 2007). These cases show that the district court in this case properly exercised its discretion and explained its findings adequately.

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